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I. General Information 
 
 

Location:    124 Clarke Avenue 
    Palm Beach, Florida 

 
     Date of Construction:  1925 
 
     First Owner:   Niles S. Babbitt 
 

Architect:  Unknown 
 
     Builder/Contractor:  Charles S. Rice 
 
     Present Owner:    Gerald and Emily Lemole 
 
     Present Use:   Residential 
 
     Present Zoning:   R-B    
 
     Palm Beach County 
     Tax Folio Number:  50-43-43-22-05-000-0130  
 

Current Legal Description: Lot 13, Primavera Estates (Ocean Section), 
according to the Plat thereof as recorded in 
Plat Book 6, Page 82, of the Public Records 
of Palm Beach County, Florida.  
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II. Location Map 
124 Clarke Avenue 
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III. Architectural Information 
 
124 Clarke Avenue is located on the south side of Clarke Avenue between 
South Ocean Avenue and South County Road in the ocean section of the 
Primavera Estates subdivision.  The residence and accessory structures were 
constructed in the Mediterranean Revival style in 1925 during the height of 
the Palm Beach Land and Housing Boom. 1  The residence has an eclectic 
array of Gothic, Venetian and Spanish details. 

Main (North) Facade 
 
124 Clarke Avenue is a very good example of the Mediterranean Revival 
style of architecture that was popular in Palm Beach during the Land Boom 
of the 1920s.  The Mediterranean Revival style is an eclectic style 
incorporating architectural elements derived from the area around the 
Mediterranean Sea, especially Italy and Spain.  The style is found most 
frequently in states that have a Spanish Colonial heritage, but its use gained 
national popularity after the Pan-American Exhibition held in San Diego in 
1915.  In Palm Beach, the style was first popularized in 1919 by Addison 
Mizner’s design for the Everglades Club. The popularity of the style soared 
in the 1920s for both commercial and residential buildings.  The style 
remained a pervasive influence on building design until World War II.  
Buildings of this style are often decorated with ornate cast-stone columns, 

                                                             
1 Building Permit #43625, on file at the Town of Palm Beach, was dated April 11, 1925, with an 
approximate cost of $35,000. 
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pilasters and window surrounds.  Arched openings, tower features, 
balconies, asymmetrical massing and windows of varying sizes and shapes 
are also common features.  In addition, stone or stucco facades, decorative 
wrought ironwork, tile floors, pecky cypress ceilings and clay barrel tile 
roofs are typical features of Mediterranean Revival style buildings. 
 
124 Clarke Avenue is a two-story residence constructed of wood frame and 
hollow clay tile and is surfaced with rough stucco.  The roofing is comprised 
of barrel tile hip and gable roofs with exposed rafters, as well as, flat roofs 
with parapets and barrel tile accents.  The residence was constructed in a H-
shaped plan with a two-story garage apartment building at the southeast 
corner of the property.  A one-story addition connects the house to the 
accessory structure.  The property is surrounded by a site wall and a pair of 
rectangular columns with a decorative metal gate provides access to the 
property.    
 
The eastern wing of the residence has a front facing gable roof and contains 
the focal point of the main façade, a gothic arched recessed entryway with a 
large cast stone door surround. A rectangular cartouche with a tile 
background and a religious statue tops the surround.  A pair of wood and 
glass doors with decorative metal work and an arched transom above 
provide access into the residence.  Two casement windows with Venetian 
arched cast stone window surrounds are located above the entry feature.  

 Eastern Wing with Entrance               Entrance 
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The central bay of the residence, which is recessed from the eastern and 
western wings, connects to the eastern wing with an angled wall.  This 
portion of the residence contains a double height living room with 22-foot 
ceilings.  A high fixed glass window with a decorative Venetian arched 
window surround is the focal point of this bay.     
 

Eastern Wing and Central Bay 
 
The western wing of the residence does not extend forward as much as the 
eastern bay.  Unique features of this wing include the second floor’s 
curvilinear shaped window with a cast stone surround and the decorative 
tracery located at the northwest corner of the second floor.  
 

     Curvilinear Window on the North Façade                    Decorative Tracery at Northwest Corner 
                of the Western Wing   
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The residence has varied window fenestration including multi-light 
casement and sash windows, fixed windows, and arched multi-light French 
doors.  At some point after 2005, embellishments were added to some of the 
windows on the main façade, including the two Venetian style window 
surrounds above the entrance and the rectangular surround at the center 
window on the second floor of the western wing.2  
 
 

Main (North) Façade 
 
 
The highlight on the rear of the residence is a three-story round tower with a 
barrel tile hip roof.  The tower has rectangular windows on the first and 
second floors and arches on the third floor.  A rear loggia with multi-light 
arched French doors looks out on the rear yard and pool.  A one-story 
addition that was constructed in 2000 connects the house to the accessory 
structure.  This addition has three sets of arched French doors facing the 
pool area.3     
 

                                                             
2 Building permit information for the window surrounds could not be located.  The work may have 
been done in 2007-2008 when windows were replaced.  A photograph from a real estate 
advertisement from 2005 does not show these window surrounds. 
3 Description of the rear of the residence is based on building permit records and online photographs. 
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Rear façade as shown in Real Estate Advertisement in the Palm Beach Post, 2007  
  

Alterations and additions to the exterior of the residence include the 
construction of the swimming pool in 1968, enclosure of a second floor 
sundeck at the center of the eastern wing with an addition in 1995, 
construction of the front site wall and driveway gate in 1997, construction of 
a one-story addition that connects the rear of the residence’s eastern wing to 
the accessory structure and a four-foot extension of the rear loggia and an 
addition above the loggia in 2000, replacement of windows and doors, 
addition of some window surrounds, re-roofing, and ordinary repairs and 
maintenance. 4 

Main Façade - Image from a Real Estate Advertisement in the Palm Beach Post, 2005 
 
                                                             
4 Town of Palm Beach Building Permit Records, 1925-2019.   
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IV. Historical Information 
 
The residence at 124 Clarke Avenue was built during the Florida Land 
Boom.  The early 1920s was a period of tremendous growth in the Town of 
Palm Beach.  The Island had become the winter resort of America’s most 
influential families and the building boom was radically changing the face of 
the small community.  By 1920, Ocean Boulevard was completed and 
motorist from the north were driving down to enjoy the popular winter resort 
town.  As Addison Mizner and other prominent Palm Beach architects were 
designing large estates along the ocean and lake in the Mediterranean 
Revival style, demand for hotels, apartments and residences grew.  Many of 
these homes were taking their design cues from the larger estates and were 
being built in the Mediterranean Revival style as well, increasing the style’s 
popularity.   
 
124 Clarke Avenue was constructed in Primavera Estates, a subdivision 
developed by Louis Clarke.  Louis Clarke was the son of Charles J. Clarke, 
an early Palm Beach pioneer.   The origins of Clarke Avenue and the 
Primavera Estates subdivision go back to 1880, when E. N. “Cap” Dimick, 
Palm Beach’s first mayor, built his home on Lake Trail at the west end of 
what is now Clarke Avenue.  The home was named “Cocoanut Grove” and 
became the first hotel in the area, Cocoanut Grove House.  In 1891, Charles 
Clarke purchased the Cocoanut Grove along with sixty acres of property that 
ran from the ocean to the lake.5   A fire destroyed the Cocoanut Grove 
House in 1893, after which Charles Clarke built his home on the site, which 
he named “Primavera”.  Louis Clark developed the Primavera Estates 
subdivision in 1917 and many of the lots in the subdivision were sold from 
1918 through 1923.6 
 
Historically named “Casa Del Padre”, 124 Clarke Avenue was built in 1925 
by Charles S. Rice for Niles S. Babbitt and his wife Anne, from 
Philadelphia.  Babbitt was the owner of a dress manufacturing and importing 
company and was an avid sportsman.  He was a founder of the Philadelphia 
Athletic Club and an active member of the Sailfish Club.7  The Babbitt’s 
began spending the winter season in Palm Beach, prior to 1920, staying at 
                                                             
5 “Clarke Avenue 2002 Annual Walking Tour, ” Preservation Foundation of Palm Beach 7 February 
2002. 
6 “All Quiet on Clarke Avenue Beach,” Palm Beach Daily News 25 September 1985. 
   “Primavera Estates,” Palm Beach Post 22 December 1918. 
   “Primavera, Palm Beach Auction Lot Sale,” Palm Beach Daily News 18 February 1923. 
7 Obituary, The Evening Bulletin, Philadelphia. 8 June 1968. 
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The Royal Poinciana Hotel.  Niles Babbitt was known as a very religious 
person and donated a large stained glass window to St. Edward’s Catholic 
Church.     
 
In 1924, Babbitt contracted Charles S. Rice to construct a residence, known 
as Villa Banyan, at 217 Clarke Avenue.8  Shortly after the construction of 
Villa Banyan, Babbitt had Charles Rice construct another residence for him 
down the street at 124 Clarke Avenue.9  Shortly after Villa Banyan was built 
Babbitt sold the property.  Niles Babbitt spent most winter seasons at Casa 
Del Padre, 124 Clarke Avenue, until his death in 1968.    
 
There have only been five owners of the residence since its construction in 
1925.  Niles Babbitt owned the property for 43 years and the second owners, 
Louis O. and Birgett Hilton, owned the property for 27 years.  Following the 
Hilton’s, the house was owned by Raphael and Fortune Beriro, Dean and 
Pamela Lovett, and is currently owned by the Gerald and Emily Lemole who 
purchased it in 2007 and have been excellent stewards of the property.  
 
 
V. Architect/Builder Biography 
 
There is no architect listed on the original building permit for 124 Clarke 
Avenue and therefore, like many Palm Beach buildings constructed in the 
early twentieth century, the residence was likely designed and built by the 
contractor Charles S. Rice.   
 
Charles S. Rice was a prominent contractor and builder in the Palm Beach 
area from the 1920s to 1940s.  Originally from Nova Scotia, Rice came to 
South Florida by way of Massachusetts in 1920.  He was responsible for the 
construction of many residences in Palm Beach, West Palm Beach and other 
municipalities in the area.  In addition to 124 Clarke Avenue and 217 Clarke 
Avenue, Charles Rice also constructed 10 South Lake Trail, 114 Seaspray 
Avenue, 124 Brazilian Avenue, 148 South County Road, and 212 Clarke 
Avenue.  Charles Rice passed away in 1948.   
 

                                                             
8 217 Clarke Avenue was designated a Town of Palm Beach Landmark in 1982.  Building Permit 
#27224 on file at the Town of Palm Beach.  21 May 1924. 
9 The Florida Master Site File Form incorrectly lists the builder of 124 Clarke Avenue as J.S. Willson.  
The 1925 building permit for the construction of the residence and newspaper articles from 1925 
state the builder was Charles S. Rice.  
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VI. Statement of Significance 
 
The residence at 124 Clarke Avenue with its Gothic, Venetian and Spanish 
details is a very good example of a Mediterranean Revival style residence 
constructed at the height of the 1920’s Land Boom in Palm Beach.  Built in 
1925 for Niles Babbitt, the residence is representative of the homes being 
constructed during a time of significant growth in Palm Beach and more 
specifically the Primavera Estates subdivision.  
 
 
VII. Criteria For Designation  
 
Section 54-161 of the Town of Palm Beach Landmarks Preservation 
Ordinance outlines the criteria for designation of a landmark or landmark 
site and suggests that at least one criterion must be met to justify the 
designation.  Listed below are the criteria which relate to this property and 
justification for designation: 
 
(1) “Exemplifies or reflects the broad cultural, political, economic or 
social history of the nation, state, county or town.” 

 
124 Clarke Avenue, built for successful businessman Niles 
Babbitt, represents the broad cultural and economic spectrum of 
building activity that was taking place in Palm Beach during the 
Florida Boom Time Era of the 1920s.  Clarke Avenue is part of 
the Primavera Estates subdivision, a successful subdivision 
created during the 1920s Land Boom.  While Palm Beach’s 
reputation rested upon the individual grand estates and 
fashionable hotels, residences such as 124 Clarke Avenue are 
symbolic of the rise of cohesive neighborhoods of single family 
homes in Palm Beach during the 1920s.   
 

(3) “Embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural type or 
is a specimen inherently valuable for the study of a period, style, method 
of construction or use of indigenous materials or craftsmanship.” 

 
The residence located at 124 Clarke Avenue, designed and 
constructed in 1925, is a very good example of the Mediterranean 
Revival style of architecture popularized in Palm Beach during 
the Land Boom of the 1920s and still recognized as the “Palm 
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Beach Style.”  The residence embodies distinctive Mediterranean 
Revival characteristics including asymmetrical massing, tile 
covered roofs, distinctive entrances, tower features, arches, 
columns, and stucco façades.  The combination of Gothic, 
Venetian and Spanish design elements exhibited in the residence 
is characteristic of the eclectic nature of the Mediterranean 
Revival style.   
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